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APPLICATION
(Filed August 18, 1975)

Comes now ROANOKE GAS COMPANY ("Roanoke Gas") and respectfully petitions the Commission to determine that approval is not required or, in the alternative, to grant
prior approval of the arrangements herein described with an
affiliated interest, as may be required by Chapter 4, Title
56, of the Code of Virginia, and in support of its petition
represents unto the Commission as follows:
1.

Roanoke Gas is a public service company, as de-

fined in Section 56-76 of the Code of Virginia, and provides
natural gas service under the regulation of this Commission
in the City and County of Roanoke and other municipalities
embraced within its certificated service area.
2.

Prior to 1970, Roanoke Gas supplemented its peak

shaving capacity through the purchase and installation of
liquid petroleum gas (propane) storage tanks and related
equipment required to vaporize and introduce propane into
its distribution system.
3.

Since 1970, Roanoke Gas has caused to be con-

structed and placed in service a liquified natural gas
facility providing to Roanoke Gas additional peak shaving
capacity of as much as twenty million cubic feet per day,
thus reducing reliance upon propane for peak shaving.

-

4.
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In 1973, Roanoke Gas entered into a term contract

for the purchase of propane substantially in excess of its
diminished requirements for peak shaving.

Roanoke Gas

purchased propane tank· trucks, customer tanks and other required equipment and commenced to sell propane in bulk at
retail, primarily to commercial and industrial accounts.
5.

Roanoke Gas does not include in utility income

revenues from the sale of propane and does not include in
its utility cost of service costs and expenses associated
with the sale of propane.

Roanoke Gas has excluded from its

utility plant in service the cost of all propane tank trucks,
customer tanks and other equipment used or useful only in
the sale and distribution of propane.

The Commission has

recognized that the sale and distribution of propane in bulk
by Roanoke Gas is not subject to regulation by the Commission,
although the Commonwealth of Virginia has continued to
assess and collect the annual State Franchise Tax on gross
receipts from the sale of propane.
6.

Roanoke Gas has caused to be chartered but not

organized, a private stock corporation named Diversified
Energy Services, Incorporated.

The corporation will have

common directors and officers.

Subject to obtaining requisite

approval, Roanoke Gas proposes to subscribe for and acquire
all of the capital stock of this corporation in exchange for
the transfer to the corporation of all personal property

-
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exclusively used or useful in the sale and distribution of
propane in bulk, all propane in storage in excess of two
hundred thousand gallons reserved to Roanoke Gas for peak
shaving, and sufficient cash to provide the corporation with
minimum operating funds.

In connection with or following

organization of the corporation through issuance of shares,
Roanoke Gas intends to assign to the corporation its propane
supply contract and to lease to the corporation six thirtythousand gallon propane storage tanks not required by Roanoke
Gas for peak shaving purposes and to assign all customer
contracts for propane service.
7.

As the wholly owned subsidiary of Roanoke Gas,

Diversified Energy Services, Incorporated will not provide
or furnish management, supervisory, construction, engineering,
accounting, legal, financial or similar services to Roanoke
Gas nor will it sell, lease or otherwise provide any property to Roanoke Gas except such propane at cost to the corporation as may be required by Roanoke Gas for peak shaving
purposes.
8.

Roanoke Gas will provide to Diversified Energy

Services, Incorporated such management, supervisory, construction, engineering, accounting, legal, financial, and
similar services as Roanoke Gas may from time to time determine to be required to the efficient and successful operation
of the subsidiary and initially lease six thirty-thousand

- 4 gallon propane storage tanks and related facilities to the
subsidiary and such other propane storage tanks and related
facilities from time to time thereafter determined by Roanoke
Gas as not required or useful in the conduct of its utility
operations.
9.

Roanoke Gas shall recover periodically from the

subsidiary for leased tanks and other equipment an amount
equal to the rate of return approved by the Commission for
Roanoke Gas on the depreciated cost of such leased tanks and
equipment, plus the associated federal income tax, and shall
also recover periodically the allocated cost to Roanoke Gas
of providing management, supervisory, construction, engineering, accounting, legal, financial and other services provided to the subsidiary.
It is intended that the subsidiary independently establish credit with one or more commercial banks, but Roanoke
Gas specifically requests authority to lend or otherwise
guarantee loans to the subsidiary up to a balance at any
one time outstanding of one hundred thousand dollars.

All

loans made by Roanoke Gas to the subsidiary shall be payable
on demand and bear interest at the highest rate of interest
currently payable by Roanoke Gas on its own short-term obligations.
11.

It is not contemplated or proposed by Roanoke Gas

that the foregoing arrangements be made the basis of a

-
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written agreement or agreements between Roanoke Gas and its
wholly owned subsidiary, since any such arrangements would
be subject to termination or modification at the instance
of Roanoke Gas.

It is proposed by Roanoke Gas that it be

adequately compensated by the subsidiary for such services
and property as it may provide or furnish to its subsidiary,
to the end that the customers of Roanoke Gas will not benefit
from or be burdened by the business of the subsidiary.

It

is contemplated by Roanoke Gas that the Commission will maintain regulatory supervision of all cost allocations and payments received by Roanoke Gas from its subsidiary.
WHEREFORE, Roanoke Gas respectfully petitions the
Commission to accept and informally hear and consider this
application and enter an appropriate order approving such
of the arrangements as are hereinabove described as may be
required by law to be approved by the Commission and to
take such other and further action as may be requisite in
the premises.

ORDER AND OPINION OF COMMISSION
(Dated July 1, 1976)
ROANOKE GAS COMPANY ("Roanoke" or "Applicant") filed
with this Commission on August 18, 1975, an application requesting prior approval of certain transactions with an
affiliated interest.

Roanoke is a public service company

-
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authorized to provide natural gas service within the Commonwealth of Virginia.
According to its application, Roanoke has chartered but
not organized, a private stock corporation named Diversified
Energy Services, Inc.

("Diversified Energy").

Roanoke's

application requests the Commission to give prior approval
to certain arrangements between Diversified Energy and
Roanoke, or, in the alternative, to determine that
is not required.

appr~val

Specifically, Roanoke proposed to sub-

scribe to all the capital stock of Diversified Energy, in
exchange for which, Roanoke proposes to transfer to Diversified Energy personal property used in the sale and distribution of

propane which is now sold by Roanoke at bulk,

primarily to commercial and industrial customers.

As

further consideration for the stock transfer, Roanoke will
transfer all propane which it has in storage, in excess of
two hundred thousand gallons, together with sufficient cash
to provide Diversified Energy with minimum operating funds.
Following the organization and financing of Diversified
Energy, Roanoke's application states that it will assign its
propane supply contracts to Diversified Energy, will lease
to the latter six thirty-thousand gallon propane storage
tanks, and will further assign all its customer contracts
for propane service.
Roanoke's application states that it will provide to
Diversified Energy such management, supervisory, construction,

- 7 engineering, accounting, legal, financial and similar services as Roanoke may from time to time consider necessary.
The application further states that Roanoke expects to recover, periodically, from Diversified Energy, for leased
tanks and other equipment, an amount equal to the rate of
return approved by this Commission for Roanoke Gas (presumably in its last rate case), together with the cost of
providing the subsidiary with various necessary services.
The application requests authority to lend or guarantee
loans to the subsidiary up to one hundred thousand dollars
-- presumably being limited to such an amount outstanding, in
the aggregate, at any one time.

The application states that

the proposed arrangements, set f.orth above, will not be made
on the basis of written agreements.

Nevertheless, it appears

from the application that Roanoke contemplates that the
Commission will maintain regulatory supervision of all cost
allocations and payments.
A public hearing on Roanoke's application was held on
May 11, 1976, in the Commission's Courtroom.

Roanoke pre-

sented two witnesses in support of its application:
Albert W. Buckley, President, and Mr. E.
President.

c.

Mr.

Dunbar, Vice

The Commission Staff cross-examined both company

witnesses, but offered no witnesses of its own.

At the

conclusion of the hearing counsel for both Roanoke and Staff
argued the law and public interest aspects of Roanoke's
case.
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According to the testimony of its President, Roanoke
commenced retailing propane in bulk in 1973.

He testified

that the retailing of propane in bulk is a non-jurisdictional
aspect of Roanoke's business and that the properties and assets used and useful in the propane business are separately
stated and accounted for on the Company's books.

In addition

to Diversified Energy taking over Applicant's retail propane
business, Roanoke states in i·ts application that it is contemplating the formation of a subsidiary to engage in the
sale and distribution of fuel oil; further, the Company has
formed yet another subsidiary which may become involved in
the design, construction and distribution of solar energy
systems.
At the May 11 public hearing the following appearances
of counsel were entered:
HazlegroveJ

for Roanoke Gas Company, Wilbur L.

for the Staff of the Commission, Richard D.

Rogers, Jr., and Edward L. Flippen.
NOW, THE COMMISSION, after consideration of the evidence
and arguments of counsel, is of the opinion and finds:
(1)

That Roanoke Gas Company distributes natural gas

within the State and is subject to regulation by this Com-.
mission;
(2)

That Roanoke Gas Company and Diversified Energy

Services, Inc. are affiliated interests within the meaning
of Title 56, Chapter 4, of the Code of Virginia;

- 9 (3)

That Roanoke Gas Company's proposal, as set forth

in its application, and as evidenced by its witnesses in the
hearing of May 11, 1976, is subject to regulation by this
Commission.
(4)

That §13.1-50 of the Code of Virginia provides

that a public service company may conduct in this State
other public service business or non-public service business
so far as may be related to or incidental to its stated
business as a public service company;

that Roanoke Gas

Company's stated business is to provide natural gas to customers within its certificated area.

Propane, like fuel oil,

is a commodity which competes with natural gas when marketed
at retail.

The retail distribution of such competing pro-

ducts is conduct proscribed of a natural gas public service
company in Virginia as it is not related to, or incidental
to, the public service company's stated business.

Roanoke's

application requests authority to transfer the prohibited
activity to its subsidiary.

It appears to the Commission,

and the Commission so finds, that the proposed transfer to
the subsidiary, under the facts set forth in the application
and presented during the hearing, is merely to further the
business objectives of Roanoke's shareholders.

Roanoke

proposes that Diversified Energy lease Roanoke's vehicles,
become assignee of Roanoke's propane supply contracts, and
service Roanoke's present propane customers.

According to

- 10 the application, Roanoke will provide Diversified Energy
with management, supervisory, construction, engineering,
accounting, legal, financial, and similar services as
"Roanoke may from time to time determine to be required";
such services are to be based on oral agreements.
Acquisition or creation of a subsidiary by a public
service company may serve, in many instances, a legitimate
business purpose.

As this Commission recently found in

Case No. A-431, by order date of July 1, 1976, the formation
of a subsidiary, and acquisition of its securities, is not
prohibited by §13.1-50.

That Code provision specifically

provides that the powers of a public service corporation
shall not be limited "in respect of the securities of other
corporations."

In our opinion, the authority to "deal" in

the securities of other corporations is not legislative
authorization for a public service company to acquire controlling interest in the securities of corporations whose
business is functionally unrelated to the stated business
of the public service company.

To the extent that a utility

diversifies for economic reasons which are related to its
public service obligation, and to the extent that such diversification is economically justified, such business conduct is consistent with the law of Virginia.

The establish-

ment of subsidiaries for the purpose of engaging in activities
that do not promote a utility's public service obligation,

- 11 is inconsistent with the law of Virginia -- specifically,
Code §13.1-50;
(5)

That Roanoke Gas Company and Diversified Energy

Services, Inc. are affiliated interests, as indicated heretofore;

that the proposed arrangements between the affiliated

parties are subject to prior approval of this Commission,
with the burden upon the parties to demonstrate the public
interest aspects of such arrangements.

Roanoke's application

seeks approval of numerous proposed transactions with Diversified Energy.

The Applicant, however, has not presented

the data upon which the merits of these arrangements can be
judged.

This Commission cannot give prior approval for

loans, lease arrangements, contract assignments, and various
management, supervisory, technical, legal and financial services without a knowledge of the terms and conditions of
such arrangements and a demonstration that such arrangements
promote the public interest.

Therefore, assuming, arguendo,

that Roanoke's application be not in conflict with §13.1-50
of the Code, that is, that its proposed diversification were
into areas functionally related to its public service business, contrary to our above determination, the company's
application and evidence fail to satisfy its burden of
demonstrating that such arrangements protect and promote the
public interest; accordingly,
IT IS ORDERED that the application be, and it hereby
is, denied.

- 12 AN ATTESTED COPY HEREOF SHALL BE SENT TO THE Applicant,
care of its counsel, Wilbur L. Hazlegrove, Esquire, Hazlegreve, Dickinson, Smith & Rea, P. 0. Box 1218, Roanoke,
Virginia 24006; and a like copy, each to the Commission's
Divisions of Accounting and Public Utilities.

NOTICE OF APPEAL AND ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR
ON BEHALF OF ROANOKE GAS COMPANY
(Served July 9, 1976)
PLEASE TAKE NOTICE that Roanoke Gas Company will petition the Supreme Court of Virginia for an appeal from the
final Order of the State Corporation Commission issued under
date of July 1, 1976, after hearing upon the captioned application, upon the following Assignments of Error:
1.

The legal findings and conclusions set forth in

Paragraphs numbered 2, 3, 4 and 5 of the Commission's Order
are contrary to and not supported by the referenced statutes
or any other applicable provision of law;
2.

The legal findings and conclusions set forth in

Paragraphs numbered 2 and 3 of the Order, even though they
be found to correctly state the law, do not sustain the
Commission's denial of the Application.
3.

The following statements or conclusions of fact

set forth in the Order are contrary to the evidence or are

- 13 not sustained by any substantial evidence of record:
(a)

"Propane . . • is a commodity which competes

with natural gas when marketed at retail";
(b)

"Retail distribution of such competing pro-

ducts (propane and fuel oil)

. .

• is not related to, or

incidental to, the public service company's stated business 11 ;
(c)

11

•

•

The proposed transfer to the subsi-

diary • • • is merely to further the business objectives of
Roanoke's shareholders";
(d)

"Roanoke proposes that Diversified Energy

lease Roanoke's vehicles . . . ";
(e)

The bulk sale of propane by Diversified

Energy Services, Inc. is

11

functionally unrelated" to the

utility business of Roanoke Gas Company;
(f)

11

Roanoke's application seeks approval of

numerous proposed transactions with Diversified Energy 11 ;
(g)

Roanoke Gas Company "has not presented the

data upon which the merits of such (loan, lease and other)
arrangements can be judged."

- 14 TESTIMONY OF ALBERT W. BUCKLEY
ALBERT

w.

BUCKLEY, a witness called by and on be-

(16)

half of the Applicant, having first been duly sworn, testified as follows:
DIRECT EXAMINATION
BY MR. HAZLEGROVE:

Q

Would you state your name?

A

I am Albert

Q

Are you the President of Roanoke Gas Company?

A

Yes, I am.

Q

What is the purpose of your testimony in this

w.

Buckley.

proceeding?
A

The purpose of my testimony in this proceeding is

to support the Application of Roanoke Gas Company, filed with
the Clerk of the Commission on August 18, 1975.

Q

What is the object of the Application?

A

The object of the Application is to either obtain

a ruling from the Commission that approval is not required
or approval of our company's plan to incorporate our propane business.
The Application also requests the Commission to
approve loans or the guarantee of loans to this subsidiary and to approve the lease by Roanoke Gas Company to
the subsidiary of certain propane storage tanks which are
no longer required in our utility operation.

(17)

- 15 Q

Please describe the propane business of Roanoke

Gas Company.
A

For several years, we have been active in the

business of selling liquid petroleum gas, propane, in bulk,
primarily to commercial and industrial customers.

In 1972,

we contracted for a supply of propane, substantially in excess of our present requirements for peak shaving, a situation brought about by the addition to our facilities of a
liquified natural gas plant.
Utilizing excess quantities available to us under
our contract, we commenced in 1973 retailing propane in bulk.
As the Commission is aware, the sale of propane in bottles
or bulk does not come within the regulatory supervision of
the Commission.
Revenues from propane sales have shown a steady
increase over the last several years.

Because of this growth

and the election of the Commonwealth of Virginia to treat
revenues from propane sales as subject to the gross receipts
tax, we elected last summer to incorporate our propane business.
We chartered Diversified Energy Company and filed
with this Commission in August of that year a petition

(18)

allowing us to enter into certain regulated transactions with
the subsidiary which are not required in our utility operation
and guaranteeing lines of credit for the subsidiary until its
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own credit has been established.
Upon approval of that Application, we intend to
transfer the assets used exclusively in the bulk distribution of propane to the subsidiary in exchange for the issuance
of shares.

These assets have been bought and paid for out

of retained earnings.
Roanoke Gas does not propose to issue any additional
shares of common stock or directly incur any short or long-term
indebtedness in connection with the transaction.

Q

Does Roanoke Gas propose to sell propane in bulk

through the subsidiary to customers of Roanoke Gas?
A

At this time, for the majority

deviation from the prepared testimony

this is a slight
we are selling practi-

cally all of our propane to customers that are not customers
of Roanoke Gas Company.

And to deviate from the prepared testi-

mony, we do have occasions -- well, under the Mandatory Propane
Allocation Plan you are not permitted to solicit propane
customers.

(19)

You are not permitted to solicit.
Now if a prospective propane customer came to you

and asked for service, you were allowed to sell it if you could
get the allocation.
We, under our Restriction Plan, are not allowed --

Q

You mean the Utility Restriction Plan?

A

Under the Restriction Plan approved by this Commis-

sion on sales, we are not allowed to sell to a new commercial
customer or additional loads to an existing commercial customer.

- 17 We have a couple of customers who want to add to
their facilities.

In other words, a restaurant wants to

enlarge its water heater or something like that.

And we could

not serve them natural gases so they asked us· if we would
serve them propane.

But, other than that we don't serve it.

COMMISSIONER SHANNON:

Mr. Buckley, under

your allocation from the Federal Energy Administration, your propane allocation, is that allocation
made to you in a capacity as a public service corporation?
WITNESS BUCKLEY:

No, sir.

Now we have

(20)

a certain portion of our allocation, that portion
that was designated for peak shaving.

But we have

to make application to them for permission to sell.
COMMISSIONER SHANNON:
WITNESS BUCKLEY:

In bulk?

In bulk.

COMMISSIONER SHANNON:

And they make

available an allotment?
WITNESS BUCKLEY:

Yes, sir.

COMMISSIONER SHANNON:

What percentage of

your allotment was used in the public service as
compared to the nonregulated end of it?
WITNESS BUCKLEY:

I don't recall the

figure exactly, Judge Shannon, but I believe around -

- 18 I believe they've allocated us around maybe twenty
percent of the total volume that we have allocated.
COMMISSIONER SHANNON:

How much of that

goes into the peak shaving?
WITNESS BUCKLEY:

Well, as it's happened,

we've had very warm winters these past few years and
we had very little propane used.

In our peak shaving

I would guess we peak shaved maybe two hundred thousand gallons last year.
COMMISSIONER SHANNON:
WITNESS BUCKLEY:

About a million seven.

COMMISSIONER SHANNON:
WITNESS BUCKLEY:

Out of a total of

Go ahead.

Historically, almost

all of our interruptible industrial and commercial
customers have installed standby facilities using
fuel oil.

One seasonal customer uses coal as an

alternate fuel.
However, it is certainly feasible and
more economical to deliver propane by use of our
own distribution system, and we have under consideration the filing of a cost of service tariff which
would provide for pipeline delivery of propane purchased or owned by a commercial or industrial firm
which is a customer of Roanoke Gas or adjacent to
our lines.

(21)

- 19 BY MR. HAZLEGROVE:

Q

(Continuing)

Does Roanoke Gas separately account for the sale

and distribution of propane in bulk?
A

Yes, we do not include revenues from bulk sales

of propane in our utility income, and we do not include

(22)

in utility expense or cost of service the identifiable costs
of engaging in the sale of propane in bulk.
None of the assets used exclusively in the sale
and distribution of propane in bulk are included in our rate
base.

However, we continue to include in our rate base the

original cost of propane storage tanks and related peak
shaving facilities, but only a small portion of this is now
required for utility purposes.
In our pending Application before the Commission,
we propose to lease the propane storage tanks to the subsidiary so that propane customers will absorb the cost of owning and maintaining these tanks which are not needed in the
utility business.

Q

Do you regard the sale of propane in bulk by

Roanoke Gas or by the proposed subsidiary as related or
incidental to the company's utility business?
A

Definitely.

It is related to the utility busi-

ness because propane may be used interchangeably with natural gas and may be delivered in bulk or by pipeline.
Moreover, the sale of propane in bulk is incidental to our business, since we are able to use to good

-
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advantage excess propane facilities.

Q

Do other utilities distributing gas in Virginia

also engage in the sale and distribution of propane in
bulk, either directly or through a subsidiary or affiliated
corporation?
MR. FLIPPEN:

I object.

That is not

relevant to the Application here, Your Honor.
COMMISSIONER SHANNON:

Do you want

to respond to that, Mr. Hazlegrove?
MR. HAZLEGROVE:

Yes.

I think what

was pointed out yesterday by you, Your Honor, was
that we need to get a prospective on what's going
on in Virginia among the utilities and affiliated
and subsidiary interests in related incidental or
nonrelated activities.
And it seems self-evident to me that
this Commission does not want to condemn in this
case an activity which it has allowed in other
cases, and I think it is certainly fair and necessary to a proper evidentiary record.
COMMISSIONER SHANNON:
the question.

He may answer

Go ahead, Mr. Buckley.

WITNESS BUCKLEY:

Yes.

Commonwealth

Natural Gas Company sells propane in bulk through

(23)

- 21 its affiliate, Virginia Bottled Gas Company.

(24)

Southwest Virginia Natural Gas Company also is
affiliated with a corporation which distributes
propane in bulk in the Martinsville area.
BY MR. HAZLEGROVE:

Q

(Continuing)

Now, Mr. Buckley, are the allegations or state-

ments of fact contained in the Application filed with the
Clerk of the Commission in August of 1975 correct to the
best of your knowledge and belief?
A

Yes.

I have no suggested changes or modifica-

tions to the Application except to say that it is not
essential that the Commission approve loans by Roanoke Gas
to the propane subsidiary or that Roanoke Gas Company be
authorized to guarantee loans by others to such subsidiary.

Q

Does the company have an accurate description

of the properties and other assets which it proposes to
transfer to the subsidiary corporation in exchange for
shares?
A

Yes.

Please bear in mind that Roanoke Gas is

engaged in the distribution of propane at retail and has
been for several years.
This is a nonjurisdictional aspect of our

(25)

business and the properties and assets used or useful in
the propane business are separately stated and accounted

- 22 for on the books of the utility.
Mr. Dunbar, Vice-President - Finance, has prepared a statement of assets and operating results applicable for the period ending December 31, 1975.

Q

What interest, if any, does Roanoke Gas have

in forming additional subsidiary corporations for the purpose of engaging in businesses which are related or not related to its utility business?
A

As this Commission is well aware, we have formed

but not organized a subsidiary corporation to engage in gas
exploration and development.

We have also formed the sub-

sidiary corporation which may become involved in the design,
construction and distribution of solar energy systems.
And Roanoke Gas is also seriously considering
the formation of a subsidiary corporation to engage in the
sale and distribution of fuel oil, either de novo or through
acquisition of a going concern.

Q

Has Roanoke Gas intervened in the companion Appli-

cation of Lynchburg Gas Company to acquire additional shares
in Lynco Development Corporation and thereby expand its nonregulated fuel oil business?
A

Yes.

We have intervened and supported that

(26)

Application since it may become a precedent which might be
construed as applicable to our pending Application and our
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proposal to become engaged in the sale and distribution of
fuel oil, solar energy systems and in gas exploration and
development.

Q

Does this conclude your testimony?

A

Yes, it does.

Q

Before your stand down or submit yourself for

cross-examination, Mr. Buckley, do you have the year ending
statement of the financial condition and operating results
for Roanoke Gas Company?
A

I have my annual audit report with me.

Q

Would you please read into the record the amount

of undivided profits at year end 1975 of the company?
A

It would perhaps

be better if Mr. Dunbar would

cover this, but maybe I can find it.
(Witness looking through paper writings)
On the liability side of our balance sheet on
the capital stock the audit report reflects retained earnings, balance December 31, 1975, of two million eight hundred sixty-three thousand two hundred fifty-seven

Q

doll~rs.

At that date, was -- or at the date of the

(27)

hearing, is the corporation obligated on short-term obligations?
A

At this date?

Q

Yes.

A

We have no short-term obligations.

We have no

-
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short-term obligations at this time.

Q

At this date?

A

At this date.
MR. ROGERS:

dollar figure?

What was that two million

What does it represent?

WITNESS BUCKLEY:
balance December 31, 1975.

Retained earnings,
Two million eight

sixty-three two fifty-seven.
BY MR. HAZLEGROVE:

Q

(Continuing)

You also have available to you the amount of

dividends paid in 1975, Mr. Buckley?
A

Dividends paid, December 31, 1975, two hundred

seventy-eight thousand four hundred ninety-eight dollars.

Q

And the amount of earnings transferred to earned

surplus or undivided profits amounted to what?
A

(Witness looking through paper writings)

(28)

Q

Or otherwise stated, what were the earnings for

the company for 1975?
A

The company earned in 1975 five hundred fifty-two

thousand six hundred eight dollars.
Q

Of which two hundred seventy-eight thousand four

hundred ninety-eight dollars was distributed in the form of
a cash dividend?
A

True.

- 25 MR. ROGERS:

What was the earned?

WITNESS BUCKLEY:

The net earnings for

the company was five hundred fifty-two thousand
six hundred eight dollars.
BY MR. HAZLEGROVE:

(Continuing)

Q

After payment of all taxes and other charges?

A

Yes.
MR. HAZLEGROVE:

Thank you.

You may examine

him, Mr. Rogers.
COMMISSIONER SHANNON:

Mr. Rogers?
(29)

CROSS-EXAMINATION
BY MR. ROGERS:

Q

Is it your usual practice not to pay all earnings

out as a dividend, isn't it?
A

We've never done so to my knowledge.

be in the early years of the company.

It may

Dividends may have

exceeded earnings.
Q

In fact, don't must utilities, including Roanoke,

look to their earnings as a means of carrying on the construction program?
A

Certainly in a period of growth, a normal growth,

we do look to that.

We do look to that and .we certainly

would continue doing so in the future.

-

Q
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Your two million eight hundred some thousand

dollars, that represents retained earnings.

Certainly

some of that represents investment in plant, doesn't it?
You don't have two million eight hundred thousand in cash?
A

Oh, no.

Q

So, when you stated you had two million eight

hundred thousand in retained earnings, for all I know, on
the record, every bit of it is in plant?
A

I recognize that I have exposed myself to this

question, but I cannot answer what portion.

Q

Certainly.

In your propane business, you,

(30)

Roanoke's present propane business, it has some trucks?
A

Yes.

We have a truck.

Q

What is propane?

Is it a liquid that you can

store at atmosphere pressure?
A

No, sir.

Q

Is it stored under pressure?

A

Yes, sir.

Q

What is the pressure it's stored under?

A

It varies depending upon the temperature.

Q

Under your normal storage conditions is it a

liquid?
A

A propane tank contains liquid.

vapor head on top of it.

It also has a

In other words, you can't take
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a thirty thousand gallon tank and put thirty thousand gallons of propane in it.

It must have some space available

where pressure would be too excessive.
Q

How do you receive -- now, I'm talking about

your bulk propane.

Do you receive it and store it some-

where on Roanoke's premises?
A

We have two propane storage areas, one at our

plant, our office building in town, and the other is out
of town, metering station.

Each have incorporated with

them propane air mixing devices.

(31)

The propane is brought in by truck or by tank
car on rails and is stored in these tanks.
Q

All right.

Now, how do you deliver it to your

customers?
A

Now which customers?

Q

Your bulk?

A

Bulk.

Q

Out of your tank?

A

Yes, out of the gas company tank and into a

We unload it at the tank into a truck.

truck and it is delivered.
Q

In the transfer from the tank to the truck, do

you have to continue to maintain the pressure and the temperature so that it will stay liquid?
A.

You don't maintain it.

it for you.

The pressure maintains
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Q

The pressure maintains the temperature?

A

The liquid.

Q

They function, one or the other?

A

In other words, if you reduce propane to a very

low temperature and reduce all pressure, if you put more -Q

Don't you have to have a connection between

(32)

the tank and the truck that will maintain that pressure?
A

No.

Q

You just pour it like --

A

(Witness nodded in the affirmative)

Q

And it don't vaporize?

A

As long as you keep it transferring under pres-

sure from one tank to the other.
Q

But you lost your pressure in the short interval

between the tank and the truck?
A

Not as long as it's under pressure.

Q

Is it maintained under pressure during transfer?

It is transferred in a closed tube?
A

The tank has a pressure on it.

It's in a closed

tube to another tank.

Q

All right.

A

It can either be pumped or it can be flowed by

gravity.

Q

In the transfer from the tank to the truck, is it

ever exposed to atmospheric pressure?
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A

No.

Q

All right.

The truck then goes to a customer's

premises?
A

Right.

Q

What do you do, pump it into a stationary

(33)

bottle?
A

That is correct.

Q

And it continues to be stored there under pres-

A

Yes.

Q

And the customer has facilities adapted to pro-

A

Well, the only adapting of the facility between

sure?

pane?

propane and natural gas is the changing of an orifice on
the equipment.

Q

That's just the opening that it

pours through

to the burning?
A

No.

They don't burn liquid.

They burn gas.

In other words, what they do is, you have a pipe
coming off the top of your tank.
ferent approaches.

Now, there's several dif-

This is not the only approach.

But

typically, you have a connection coming off the top of the
tank through a pipe and it goes over to a regulator, a
pressure reducing valve, and as you are aware you don't
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burn gas unless it's in a real sophisticated industrial
application.
You burn gas at around a quarter of a pound
per square inch pressure.

(34)

And your tank may have thirty-

five, forty, a hundred pounds of pressure on it.
So, the vapor pressure comes to your regulator and
is reduced to a utilization pressure and goes from there
into the appliance.

The only difference between burning

propane and natural gas is in the orifice.
In an industrial application you may have a
vaporizer where the liquid will not vaporize quickly enough
just as you draw it off.

So you may heat the liquid to make

it go to a vapor more rapidly.

And you may have a void to

cause propane to come in on one side and a gas to come on
the other side to mix to a BTU that is interchangeable with
natural gas.
We also have that type application also.
Q

How many people in the Roanoke area, or how many

businesses, sell propane?
A

Oh, I think Parafax.

We've got Parr Gas.

We've

got Exxon.
Q

How does Exxon sell, through a distributorship?

A

They have a distributorship, yes.

Q

Any others you can recall right off the top of

your head?

Parafax --

- 31 Those are all I can recall off the top of

A

(35)

my head.

Q

Isn't some propane sold in portable tanks?

A

Well, if you're speaking of portable tanks in a

car

in other words, we have several vehicles that burn

propane in lieu of gasoline.

That would be a portable tank,

yes.

Q
base

I was thinking in terms -- and maybe I'm way off
in terms of the customer gets a tank of propane,

takes that tank back and gets another.
A

Oh, that's perfectly possible that you could have

a customer bring it down for loading.

Q

Do mobile homes burn propane?

A

Yes.

Q

Md

A

They have those twenty-pound cylinders, as a rule.

Q

Do you sell any of that small quantity?

A

No, I can't

think that we have.

Unless it would

be an isolated -- we would be capable of filling such a
cyliner.

Q

You would be capable of filling it?

A

Yes.

Q

Yours is almost entirely industrial sales?

A

Almost entirely commercial.

(36)
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Q

Let me look at your

t~stimony.

This facility,

you intend to transfer, I think, its tanks and
A

A truck and some tanks, various size tanks.

Q

Trucks and tanks that you intend to transfer

from Roanoke Gas to Diversified Energy?
A

Yes.

Q

Are they presently in the investment base, rate

base of Roanoke Gas?
A

No.

We are not earning from those.

Q

Why don't you put them in the rate base?

A

We did not feel it was a regulated activity.

Q

It's not a public utility business that we

regulate?
A

That's right.

Q

It's not a public utility business?

A

Yes.

Q

On page 3, you say: " •• It is certainly feasible

and more economical to deliver propane by use of our distribution system and we have under consideration the filing
of a cost of service tariff which would provide for pipeline delivery of propane purchased or owned by a
commercial or industrial firm .•• "
If you had a line delivering propane through
it to a customer, you would consider that part of your
public utility business, wouldn't you?

(37)

-

A

All right.
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Let me digress, if I may, and clarify

what we are saying here.
We have the capability of mixing propane with air
and making a gas that is interchangeable with natural gas.
And in that regard, if a customer bought a quantity of
propane, put in in our tank, we could charge him.

This is

what·we are contemplating, we are thinking about.

We could

charge him a service for vaporizing and flowing that gas
through to the customer or co-mingling it with the other gas
and delivering him a like quantity.
And then in that regard, I would say, yes, it
would be a utility performance, just as our peak shaving
operation is a utility performance.

Q

Can you co-mingle that propane, vaporized propane,

as a percentage of your natural gas, all the way from zero
percent all the way up to one hundred?
A

No.

Well, I take it back.

Under an emergency

condition, it occurred back in about 1964.

We lost pipe-

lines supplying both sides of our system at the same time,
and we did bring propane air plants on and we did hold
our system together by using propane air plants.
say, it can be done.

(38)

Yes, I

You would have some customer com-

plaints, but it's much, much cheaper than trying to relight
the whole system which runs up in the hundreds of thousands
of dollars.

-

Q

34 -

I have heard, and I was under the impression --

and please correct me -- it seems like I have been told
somewhere that in the pormal ordinary day-by-day operations the company could not use propane or should not use
propane as a percentage of total deliveries through the
pipeline of over five percent.
Am

I just way off track?

A

You are way off track.

Q

Okay.
COMMISSIONER HARWOOD:

Mr. Rogers, let me

interject a question that I think would be more
appropriate now than before Mr. Buckley finishes.
Do I understand, and I know your capability
of injecting propane air in your system, the customer that bought the propane that you talked
about would not necessarily be one who would -he would be charged for the propane and he might
be getting natural gas?
WITNESS BUCKLEY:

That's correct.

This is

simply something that we contemplate perhaps
doing.
COMMISSIONER HARWOOD:

It would be a book-

keeping item really as to cost, wouldn't it?
WITNESS BUCKLEY:
MR. HAZLEGROVE:

That's correct.
Except, if I might add, we

(39)
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would not charge our utility customers with the
cost of the propane, since the customer who wishes
propane service we have purchased that propane -COMMISSIONER HARWOOD:

Oh.

He will pay the

price for propane?
MR. HAZLEGROVE:

The concept, of course, is

that we can distribute it by pipeline more cheaply
than we can bulk by truck.
WITNESS BUCKLEY:

Incidentally propane will

cost you to make it and put it in your system something in excess of four dollars a thousand.

So you

obviously would have to have a special rate.
BY MR. ROGERS:

Q

(Continuing}

(40}

You want to separate the two aspects of your

business, though you would have Roanoke Gas continuing to
operate the business that used fixed pipelines?
A

That's correct.

Q

And then you would have Diversified Energy

running that business that sells in bulk by tank truck?
A

That's correct.

Q

Okay.

Do you intend for Diversified Energy,

or do you plan at the present time for Diversified Energy
to enter the oil business?
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A

That's stated in my testimony.

Q

It is?

A

We, in my testimony, I make reference to the

fact that we may wish to acquire an oil company or to
form an oil company.
MR. HAZLEGROVE:
hend his question.

I think you misappreHe wanted to know whether

the propane subsidiary was indeed in current
planning going to be used as a vehicle to get
into the oil business.
BY MR. ROGERS:

Q

(Continuing)

Are there any plans along that line:
MR. HAZLEGROVE:

I might answer that by

saying that our testimony indicates we are considering the formation of a subsidiary to engage
in either de novo or on a going concern basis
in the distribution or jobbing of fuel oil.
That statement should be interpreted as an
indication that our present thinking is that we
would want a separate subsidiary for that business.
MR. ROGERS:

Okay.

I'm sorry.

You have

said that.
MR. HAZLEGROVE:

But we are -- I hope you

don't accept that as a representation of what
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we will actually do in the future.
BY MR. ROGERS:

Q

(Continuing)

Is it the present plans, and perhaps this has

been testified to already, for the management to be common
for both Roanoke Gas and Diversified Energy?
A

Yes.

Q

Do you know whether the Board of Directors will

be common?

A.

Yes.

(42)

Q

And Officers will be common, that is management?

A

They would have certain common officers.
MR. ROGERS:

That's all.

COMMISSIONER SHANNON:
MR.HAZLEGROVE:

All right.

Any redirect?

Please.

REDIRECT EXAMINATION

(43)

BY MR. HAZLEGROVE:

Q

Mr. Buckley, I believe that perhaps you in-

advertently answered Mr. Rogers in describing the actual
mechanics of handling propane wherein you indicated that
you took the propane to the propane tanks and then took
it out of the tanks and distributed it to your customers.
Is it not a fact that a very large percentage
of the propane·is really jobbed, picked up at the Mt. Vale
terminal?

- 38 -

A

Yes.

There is that aspect of our operation

Q

It's shipped directly to the customer?

A

Yes.

also.

We do have one major customer that re-

ceives his supply, the majority of his supply, not totally,
but the majority of his supply by tank truck or contract
carriers.

Also a pipeline in North Carolina straight up

to him and put into his tank.
But we do also delivery, deliver directly.

Q

Now, is not either Parafax or Parr Gas a sub-

sidiary of Texas Eastern Transmission Corporationr
A

Parafax is a subsidiary, I believe, of Texas

Eastern, yes.

If i'm not mistaken, I think -- if I'm

not mistaken, each one -- Exxon may be some sub-

(44)

sidiary of some transmission.
Q

And by transmission companies you mean those

companies that transmit in interstate commerce natural
gas?
A

Yes.
COMMISSIONER SHANNON:

Anything further?

(No response)
You may stand down.
MR. ROGERS:

Just one question.
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RECROSS EXAMINATION
BY MR. ROGERS:
Q

As long as you are talking about some of the

diversification by the interstate pipelines, isn't it
true that they are diversifying into everything?
A

Yes, sir.

Q

Could you name a few

o~

the lines of products

they're getting into?
A

I believe that perhaps Tennessee Gas Trans-

mission may be in some banking, some insurance and some
agriculture and some other areas.

Q

Textiles?

A

I don't know about textiles, but maybe ship-

building.

Q

Shipbuilding?

Yes, you should recall that.

In fact -- let's see, what is the largest interstate
transmission system?
A

What would you call it?

Perhaps Tennessee Gas would probably be the

largest unless it's El Paso.

Q

And probably some of those large companies

have as much as fifty percent of their income coming
from diversification?
A

I can't answer that.

-
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COMMISSIONER SHANNON:

Are they diver- (46)

sifying through holding companies, Mr. Buckley?
WITNESS BUCKLEY:
Shannon.

I don't know, Judge

I'm sure they've got all sorts of inter-

relations.
COMMISSIONER SHANNON:
MR. ROGERS:

No, sir.

COMMISSIONER SHANNON:
Mr. Buckley.

Anything further?

You may stand down,

Thank you.

MR. HAZLEGROVE:

I call Edward C.

(47)

Dunbar.
COMMISSIONFR SHANNON:

Come around, Mr.

Dunbar.

TESTIMONY OF EDWARD C. DUNBAR
EDWARD

c.

DUNBAR, a witness called by and on

behalf of the Applicant, having first been duly sworn,
testified as follows:
DIRECT EXAHINATION
BY MR. HAZLEGROVE:

Q

All right, Mr. Dunbar, please state your name.

A

I am Edward C. Dunbar.

Q

Are you the Vice-President -Finance of Roanoke

Gas Company?

- 41 A

Yes, I am.

Q

What is the purpose of your testimony in

this proceeding?
A

As mentioned in Mr. Buckley's prepared testi-

mony, it is my purpose to provide the Commission with
a statement of assets which were exclusively devoted to
the sale and distribution of propane in bulk at year
end 1975 and to provide for the record a statement of
the revenues and expenses derived and charged to the nonjurisdictional aspect of our utility operation.
I have attached the statements to my prepared
testimony and ask that they be accepted in evidence as
Exhibits 1 and 2.
MR. HAZLEGROVE:

We would ask that

(49)

they be so admitted.
C0~1ISSIONER

SHANNON:

All right.

We

will identify his balance sheet, dated December 31,

1975, will be identified as Exhibit 1.
And the operating report, propane, let's
see, there are three sheets here.
MR. HAZLF.GROVE:

Yes.

Let's identify them

as Exhibits 1, 2, and 3.
COMMISSIONER SHANNON:
balance sheet is Exhibit 1.

All right.

The

-
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And the charges and capital assets of
nonutility property for year ended December 31,
1975, will be 2.
And, the operating report for propane
for the year '75 will be 3.
BY MR. HAZLEGROVE:

Q

{Continuing)

Are there any assets or properties other than

listed on the exhibit which you have presented used in the
sale and distribution of propane in bulk by the company?
A

Yes.

As indicated in the Application and Mr.

Buckley's testimony, we are using several propane

(50)

bulk storage tanks of Roanoke Gas Company which are no
longer needed for peak shaving.

Q

What is the original cost and the depreciation

reserve for these tanks at year end 1975?
A

The original cost of the six thirty-thousand

gallon propane storage tanks, which we propose to lease
to the propane subsidiary, and the reserve for depreciation at year end, 1975, was one hundred thirteen thousand
three hundred eighty-three dollars and sixty-nine thousand
nine hundred twelve dollars, leaving unrecovered fortythree thousand four hundred seventy-one dollars of original
cost.
We propose to recover from the propane subsidiary on an annual basis the rate of return which the

-
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Commission has allowed us to earn for that year, with
associated federal income taxes.

Q

Does Roanoke Gas propose that the propane sub-

sidiary employ management and employees to operate the
propane business?
A

No.

It is not contemplated at this time that

the propane subsidiary will directly employ managerial
personnel or other employees for the purpose of engaging
in business.
At the present time, we are allocating costs
and expenses associated with the propane business and,
following the formation of the propane subsidiary, these
cost allocations will continue and the propane subisidary
will reimburse Roanoke Gas Company for the value of all
services and materials furnished by Roanoke Gas Company.

Q

Does this conclude your testimony?

A

Yes, it does.
COMMISSIONER SHANNON:
MR. ROGERS:

No questions.

COMMISSIONFR SHANNON:
down.

Mr. Rogers?

You may stand

